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Kennet h Baker and M chael Hol nmes appeal their convictions of
conspiracy to possess and distribute cocaine base. Baker appeals
a second conviction of possession of cocaine base with intent to
distribute. Appellants argue that there is insufficient evidence
to support their convictions. Additionally, Appellants appeal the
district court’s application of the Sentencing Cuidelines. Baker

argues that the district court clearly erred by refusing to apply

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has determnm ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



a two-1 evel downward adj ustnent for “acceptance of responsibility”
and by applying a two-1evel upward adjustnent for “possession of a
weapon.” Hol nes argues that the judge clearly erred by refusing to
apply a two-1evel downward adjustnent for playing a “mnor role” in
the crime. For the follow ng reasons, we AFFIRM
I
“I'n reviewi ng an appeal based on insufficient evidence, the
standard is whether any reasonable trier of fact could have found
that the evidence established the appellant’s guilt beyond a
reasonabl e doubt.”! This court reviews the evidence in the |light
nost favorable to the verdict.? W do not ask “whether the trier
of fact made the correct guilt or innocence determ nation, but
rat her whether it nmade a rational decision to convict or acquit.”?
|1
There was sufficient evidence for the jury to convict the
appel l ants of all charges. The direct evidence, conbined with the
circunstantial evidence, supports each conviction.
A
To convict Baker of possession with intent to distribute

cocaine base in violation of 21 USC 8 841(a)(1l) and 8

' United States v. Jaram|llo, 42 F.3d 920, 922-23 (5" Cir.),
cert. denied, 514 U S. 1134 (1995).

2 1d. at 923.
3 Herrera v. Collins, 506 U S. 390, 402 (1993).
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841(b)(1)(B)(iii), the governnent had to prove that the defendant
(1) know ngly, (2) possessed the cocaine, (3) with the intent to
distribute.* Possession can be actual or constructive.?®
Constructive possession may be shown by “ownership, dom nion or
control over the contraband, or over the vehicle in which the
contraband was conceal ed.”® The of fense may be proven by direct or
circunstantial evidence.” One’'s intent to distribute my be shown
by the possession of a large quantity of the drugs.® Although
possession of a small anmount of drugs does not raise an inference
of an intent to distribute,® “[sJuch a quantity of a controlled
substance ... is sufficient when augnented by ... ‘large quantities
of cash.’”1 A jury found himguilty.

Baker possessed 6. 71 grans of crack cocaine in his car. Baker

possessed 7.09 granms of crack cocaine in his bedroom Wen asked

4 United States v. Diaz-Carreon, 915 F.2d 951, 953 (5" Cir.
1990) .

S United States v. Skipper, 74 F.3d 608, 611 (5'" Gr. 1996).

6 1d.

"1d. at 611.

8 United States v. Kates, 174 F.3d 580, 582-83 (5'" Gr. 1999)
(finding that possession of 19.67 grans of cocaine, divided into
many smal | rocks, evidenced intent to distribute); United States v.
Mat her, 465 F.2d 1035, 1038 (5'" Gir. 1972) (possession of 198 grans
established a prima facie case of intent to distribute).

® Turner v. United States, 396 U S. 398, 423-35 (1970).

10 Ski pper, 74 F.3d at 611 (quoting United States v. Minoz, 957
F.2d 171, 174 (5" Gir.), cert. denied, 506 U S. 919 (1992)).
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if he had any other drugs, he stated, “That’s all | have left.”
Control and ownership of the vehicle in which the cocaine was
hidden is sufficient to show knowi ng possession.!! Baker’'s total
anount of crack cocaine was 13.80 grans. The testifying officer
opi ned that this anbunt was not for personal use and that the size
of the rocks was consistent with distribution. The possession of
this amount, conbined with the | arge anount of cash found on Baker,
allows a reasonable jury to find an intent to distribute.??
Furthernore, the police found a scale in Baker’s room which is a
device for distribution, not use. There was a hole in Holnes's
w ndow | ar ge enough for one to pass drugs through. Several people
were seen approaching and |eaving the house in short periods of
tinme. Two | oaded guns were found in Baker’s car. The direct
evi dence, when coupled with the |arge anobunt of circunstanti al
evidence, is sufficient to support the verdict.
B

There was sufficient evidence to convict Baker and Hol mes with
conspiracy to distribute cocaine base in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§
841(a)(1), 8 841(b)(1)(B)(iii), and § 846. As discussed in Part A
the evidence is sufficient to support Baker’'s conviction of

possession with intent to distribute. The question of conspiracy

1 1d. at 611.

2 1d. at 611 (quoting United States v. Minoz, 957 F.2d 171
174 (5" Gr.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 919 (1992)).

4



i s whet her Baker had any agreenent with Hol nes to possess the drugs
with the intent to distribute.

To prove a conspiracy, the governnent had to prove beyond a
reasonabl e doubt (1) the existence of an agreenent to possess the
crack cocaine with the intent to distribute, (2) know edge of the
agreenent, and (3) voluntary participation in the agreenent.®® The
“agreenent nmay be shown by circunstantial evidence such as the
conduct of the alleged participants or evidence of a schene.”
Li kewi se, a defendant’ s know edge and partici pati on may be i nferred
fromthe circunstances. '’

It nust be said ... that participation in a crimna

conspiracy need not be proved by direct evidence; a

comon purpose and plan my be inferred from a

“devel opnent and a coll ocation of circunstances.”?!®
O herwi se |awful acts may becone unlawful when they as a whole
constitute a crimnal conspiracy. The |law all ows these inferences
when dealing with conspiraci es because “secrecy is the normin an
illicit conspiracy.”t

The contents of Baker’s car and bedroom - cocai ne, guns, and

a scale - coupled with the contents of Hol nes’s bedroomcoul d al | ow

3 United States v. Polk, 56 F.3d 613, 619 (5" Cir. 1995).
“ United States v. Garcia, 917 F.2d 1370, 1376 (5'" Cir. 1990).
151 d.

® United States v. Malatesta, 590 F.2d 1379, 1381 (5'" Gir.
1979) (quoting A asser v. United States, 315 U. S. 60, 80 (1942)).

7 United States v. Greenwood, 974 F.2d 1449, 1457 (5'" Gr.
1992) .



a reasonable jury to find a conspiracy to distribute. Crack
cocai ne was i n both Baker’s and Hol nes’ s bedroons. Next to the bag
of crack in Holnes's dresser was his mlitary identification card
and his credit card. The crack cocaine was packaged in bags
simlar to those found in Baker’'s possession. The testifying
of ficer opined that the bags cane fromthe sanme source. The screen
on Hol mes’ s wi ndow was torn. The floor in Hol nes’s roomwas nessy,
but the area around the window was clear. The police w tnessed
vari ous peopl e approach the hone in a short anmount of tine and t hen
| eave i medi ately. The police found no drug paraphernalia, which
woul d inply recreational use as opposed to distribution.

The governnment points to further circunstantial evidence to
support the conviction. It notes that (1) the drugs were in the
center consol e of the car and were accessible by both nmen; (2) the
second gun was unexpl ai ned, so a reasonable juror could concl ude
that it belonged to Hol nmes; (3) the Lexus did not drive erratically
during the one-half mle refusal to pull over, which could | ead one
to conclude that Hol nes, the passenger, nust have hel ped hide the
drugs and guns; and (4) the key to the gl ove conpartnent was found
under Hol nes’ s headrest, not Baker’s.

The jury heard Hol mes’s and Baker’s explanation of each of
these circunstances, it judged their credibility, and convicted
both of them Credibility determ nations and inferences are for

the jury to conclude, and not for the appellate court to second-



guess. '® The direct evidence and the accunul ati on of circunstanti al
evidence could lead a rational jury to convict.
1]

The district court did not clearly err in any of its
conclusions affecting the Sentencing Cuidelines. It found that
Baker did not accept responsibility, that Baker possessed a weapon
while in possession of cocaine, and that Holnes did not play a
mnor role. W review these findings for clear error.?®

A

The standard of reviewis extrenely deferential when revi ew ng
a court’s finding regardi ng “acceptance of responsibility” under §
3E1.1. “Because trial courts are in a unique position to eval uate
whet her t he def endant has denonstrat ed accept ance of
responsibility, a district court’s finding on acceptance of
responsibility is exam ned for clear error but under a standard of
review even nore deferential than a pure ‘clearly erroneous’
standard.”? It is the defendant’s burden to show the adjustnent’s

applicability.

8 United States v. Resio-Trejo, 45 F.3d 907, 910 (5" Gr.
1995) .

% United States v. Henderson, 254 F.3d 543, 543 (5" Gr.
2001) .

20 United States v. Cano-Guel, 167 F.3d 900, 906 (5'" Gir. 1999)
(internal quotation and citation omtted).
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Section 3E1.1 applies “[i]f the defendant cl early denonstrates
acceptance of responsibility for his offense.”? However, it “is
not intended to apply to a defendant who puts the governnent to its
burden of proof at trial by denying the essential factual el enents
of guilt, is convicted, and only then admts guilt and expresses
renorse.”?? The coment provides a rare exception to this genera
rule when a crimnal defendant accepts responsibility for the
conduct but continues to trial nonetheless to preserve issues for
appeal . %

Baker put the governnment to its proof, so the adjustnent is
not intended to apply unl ess Baker shows his case to be one of the
rare exceptions nentioned in the commentary. Hi s case does not
qualify. The exception applies to those who accept responsibility
but continue to trial only to preserve issues for appeal that do
not relate to his factual guilt. Baker did not accept
responsibility and did not go to trial for issues other than his
factual guilt. Accordingly, the district court did not clearly err
by refusing to apply the two-1evel downward adjustnent.

B
The court did not clearly err by applying a two-1evel upward

adj ustnent to Baker’s sentence for possessing a dangerous weapon

21 U. S. SENTENCI NG Gui DELI NES MANUAL 8§ 3EL1. 1.
2 1d., cm. 2.

Z|d.



whi |l e i n possessi on of the cocaine pursuant to 8§ 2D1. 1(b) (1) of the
Sentencing Quidelines. A two-|evel upward adjustnent is
appropriate when a defendant possessed a dangerous weapon while
possessing or trafficking drugs.? A judge’'s finding that a
def endant possessed a dangerous weapon under 8 2D1.1(b)(1) is a
factual finding reviewed for clear error.?® The governnent bears
t he burden of proof to show a tenporal and spatial rel ation between
t he weapon, the drug trafficking, and the defendant.? This burden
is met if the governnment shows the gun to be in the sanme | ocation
as the drugs.? “The adjustnent shoul d be applied if the weapon was
present, unless it is clearly inprobable that the weapon was
connected with the of fense. For exanpl e, the enhancenent woul d not
be applied if the defendant, arrested at his residence, had an
unl oaded hunting rifle in the closet.”?®

The governnment net its burden in this case by showi ng that (1)
Baker possessed cocaine in his car wwth intent to distribute, and
(2) Baker possessed two guns in the sanme car. The spatial and

tenporal relation requirenent is net by the fact that the gun and

24 1d. at § 2D1.1(b)(1).
2% ] d.
26 United States v. Vasquez, 161 F.3d 909, 912 (5'" Gir. 1998).

27 United States v. Cooper, 274 F.3d 230, 245 (5" Cir. 2001);
United States v. Eastland, 989 F.2d 760, 770 (5'" Gr. 1993).

28 U. S. SENTENCI NG GuUi DELI NES MAanuAL § 2D1. 1(b) (1), cnt. 3 (enphasis
added) .



drugs were both | ocated in the car.? Based on the close proximty
of the drugs and the guns, the decision to apply the two-Ievel
i ncrease was not clear error.
C

The district court did not clearly err by denying Holnes a
two-l evel downward adjustnment for playing a mnor role in the
of fense. Section 3Bl.2(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines allows a
two-1 evel decrease if “the defendant was a mi nor participant in any
crimnal activity.” A mnor participant is one “who is |ess
cul pabl e than nost other participants, but whose role could not be
described as mnimal.”3 The district court’s deternmination is
factual and reviewed for clear error:

The deternination whether to apply [§ 3B1.2(b)], or an

i nternedi at e adj ust nent, involves adetermnationthat is

heavi | y dependent upon the facts of the particul ar case.

As with any other factual issue, the court, in weighing

the totality of the circunstances, is not required to

find, based solely on the defendant’s bare assertion,

that such a role adjustnment is warranted. 3!

Usual 'y, courts find crimnal participants simlarly cul pable, and

therefore, this adjustnent is appliedinfrequently.3 The defendant

22 United States v. Cooper, 274 F.3d 230, 245 (5" Cir. 2001);
United States v. Eastland, 989 F.2d 760, 770 (5'" Gr. 1993).

0 1d, at § 3B1.2(b), cnt. 5.
3 1d., cmt. 3(0).

32 United States v. Trenelling, 43 F.3d 148, 153 (5'" Gr.
1995) .
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must bear the burden of showing that he is “substantially |ess
cul pabl e. "33

Hol nes argues that he was a nere passenger in a drug dealer’s
car, and a nere houseguest in a drug dealer’s house. Further, he
notes that the police found no noney on himand that they did not
find a scale in his room Finally, Holnmes argues that the
governnent itself viewed Hol mes as a minor participant by stating
inits closing argunent that “a person can play a mnor role in a
conspiracy and still be guilty.”

The court heard these argunents but concl uded that Hol mes was
not a “mnor participant” wthin the neaning of § 3Bl.2.
Considering (1) Holmes was in a car containing crack cocai ne and
two | oaded handguns, (2) Hol mes’s bedroom contai ned crack cocai ne
and an open screen, (3) Baker’s bedroomcontai ned crack cocai ne and
a scale, (4) multiple people were seen approaching the house and
then immedi ately |l eaving within a short period of tine, and (5) the
key to the gl ove box containing the | oaded handguns was found under
Hol nes’ s headrest, the district court did not clearly err.

|V

For the reasons above, we AFFI RM

3 United States v. Garcia, 242 F.3d 593, 597 (5" Cir. 2001).
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